2011

Johnson v. Payson City Corporation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2)(j).

ISSUES PRESENTED AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

1. Whether the trial court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of Payson City Corporation? Summary judgment is appropriate only where there are no genuine issues of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *See* U.R.C.P. Rule 56(c). A district court's grant of summary judgment is reviewed for correctness and no deference is afforded to the district court's legal conclusions. *Orvis v. Johnson*, 2008 UT 2, ¶ 6, 177 P.3d 600. This issue was preserved when Johnson opposed Payson City's motion for summary judgment by memorandum and at oral argument. (R:189, 209, 228).

CONTROLLING STATUTORY PROVISIONS

Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c)

Motion and proceedings thereon. The motion, memoranda and affidavits shall be in accordance with Rule 7. The judgment sought shall be rendered if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. A summary judgment, interlocutory in character, may be rendered on the issue of liability alone although there is a genuine issue as to the amount of damages.

Payson City ordinance 07-05-95 is set forth in the Addenda.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

John Johnson appeals from the Order Granting Summary Judgment entered on February 22, 2011, which dismissed Johnson's claims against Payson City Corporation ("Payson City") (R. 218-19).

B. Trial Court Proceedings and Disposition

John Johnson filed a Complaint against Payson City on August 11, 2008, alleging breach of contract for Payson City failing to pay a Reimbursement Agreement (R. 3-9).

Payson City filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on August 23, 2010 (R. 115-17).

Payson City asserted that the undisputed facts show Johnson was not entitled to any funds under the Reimbursement Agreement because he did not pay for the infrastructure or its installation subject to the Reimbursement Agreement (R. 162-63). Payson City asserted that Noel and Ray Hiatt paid for the infrastructure and its installation (R. 163). Payson City further asserted that the Reimbursement Agreement and Payson City ordinance required that before any reimbursement could be paid, Payson City had to collect fees from other property owners to connect to the

infrastructure (R. 163). Payson City asserted that it did not collect any fees for other property owners to connect to the infrastructure, and therefore, Johnson was not entitled to reimbursement (R. 163).

Johnson opposed the Motion, asserting that he hired Hiatt Construction to purchase and install the infrastructure with the agreement that Hiatt would be paid once the lots were sold (R. 184-85). Before the lots were completed, the property was sold to Hiatt and another party (R. 184). As part of the sale, Johnson paid Hiatt for the costs of purchasing and installing the infrastructure (R. 184). Johnson further asserted that Payson City's own records established that it had collected the subject fees, and reimbursement was proper (R. 184). Thus, Johnson maintained that disputed facts prevented summary judgment (R. 184).

The district court entertained oral arguments on the motion on January 5, 2011 (R. 209, 228). After oral arguments, the district court took the matter under advisement and entered a Ruling on Motion for Summary Judgment on February 4, 2011, granting Payson City's motion and dismissing Johnson's claim (R. 210-16). The Order Granting Summary Judgment was entered on February 22, 2011 (R. 218-19). Johnson timely filed his notice of appeal on March 24, 2011 (R. 222).

STATEMENT OF FACTS¹

On or about June 13, 1995 Lana W. Johnson and John Johnson (husband and wife at the time) purchased an undivided 50% interest in a parcel of real estate in Payson City (the "Property"), with funds from their account (R:146, 165-66, 180). Title to their interest in the Property was put in Lana Johnson's name only (R. 180). Lana Johnson's in-laws, the Waldrons, also purchased a 50% undivided interest in the Property (R. 165-

¹ These facts are taken in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. See *Wayment v. Clear Channel Broadcasting, Inc.*, 2005 UT 25, ¶ 3, 116 P.3d 271.

66).

Thereafter, Johnson began working with Payson City Council to approve the development and subdivision of the Property (R. 180). By June 19, 1996, the City Council agreed to subdivide the Property, contingent upon Johnson upsizing the pressurized irrigation and sewer lines to allow for additional property owners to connect to the infrastructure (R. 179). City Council minutes show that Payson City agreed to reimburse Johnson for the upsized lines (R. 175-76, 179). Johnson asked on numerous occasions that the reimbursement agreement be put in writing, but that did not occur until August 13, 1997, when Johnson signed the Reimbursement Agreement (R. 139-42, 179); *see also* Addenda. The terms of the Reimbursement Agreement were that Johnson would be eligible to receive up to \$59,214.00 for installing the requisite upsized infrastructure (R.141).

As the developer of the Property, Johnson hired Ray Hiatt of Hiatt Construction to purchase and install the upsized irrigation and sewer lines (“infrastructure”) (R. 134-35², 179). The initial terms of the agreement were that Ray Hiatt would be paid for the labor and material costs as the individual lots on the Property were sold (R. 134-135, 145-46³, 171-72, 179).

Subsequently, Ray Hiatt and another person, Carrie Woods, desired to purchase the Property (R. 179). Johnson and the other title owners decided to sell their interests in the Property to Ray Hiatt and Carrie Woods (R. 179). The Property was sold to Ray

² An unnumbered page exists between pages 134 and 135 of the record, which contains this testimony.

³ The same problem exists with an unnumbered page between pages 145 and 146 of the record.

Hiatt and Carrie Woods on August 4, 1997 (R. 165). As part of the sale, Ray Hiatt's costs and expenses for purchasing and installing the infrastructure subject to the Reimbursement Agreement were included in the amount of the final sale (R. 178-79).

Thereafter, Ray Hiatt claimed that he was entitled to the reimbursement value set forth in the Reimbursement Agreement, and he applied for and received the full value of the Reimbursement Agreement (R. 124-25, 164).

Johnson also applied for reimbursement under the Reimbursement Agreement but was denied (R. 178).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The issue before this Court is whether the district court's grant of summary judgment, based on a finding that no material disputed facts exist, was in error.

John Johnson filed suit against Payson City to enforce a Reimbursement Agreement which provided that if he installed upsized utility infrastructure in the subject Property, the City would reimburse him his costs for said installation. Payson City filed for summary judgment, asserting that another person, Ray Hiatt of Hiatt Construction, paid for and installed the infrastructure, and therefore, Johnson was not entitled to any reimbursement.

The district court ignored Johnson's testimony that he paid for the infrastructure and its installation through the sale of the Property to Hiatt, and granted summary judgment in favor of Payson City. In addition, the district court considered an issue not raised in Payson City's motion: whether Johnson could satisfy the provisions of the Reimbursement Agreement and Ordinance 07-05-95, which require the applicant seeking

reimbursement to establish the exact amount he is entitled to. The district court found that Johnson could not establish that he paid anything for the installation, and granted Payson City's motion for summary judgment.

The facts, taken in a light most favorable to Johnson, show that Johnson paid for the infrastructure and its installation through the sale of the Property. Accordingly, material disputed facts prevent the issuance of summary judgment.

ARGUMENT

I. MATERIAL DISPUTED FACTS EXIST AS TO WHETHER JOHNSON PAID FOR THE INFRASTRUCTURE AND ITS INSTALLATION

To prevail on summary judgment, the “movant must show both that there is no material issue of fact and that the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” *Orvis v. Johnson*, 2008 UT 2, ¶ 10, 177 P.3d 600 (citing Utah R. Civ. P. Rule 56(c)) (original emphasis). “An appellate court reviews a trial court’s legal conclusions and ultimate grant or denial of summary judgment for correctness, and views the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” *Id.* at ¶ 6, (internal quotations and citation omitted).

In this case, material disputed facts prevent the grant of summary judgment. The district court held that because Johnson did not bear any out-of-pocket costs to install and pay for the infrastructure, he could not satisfy the requirements of both the Reimbursement Agreement and Payson City Ordinances, which require that Johnson show the “actual cost” expended to install the infrastructure (R. 212-13). In making this ruling, the district court found that there was “nothing in the record to substantiate” that

when Johnson sold the Property, it took into consideration the value of the Reimbursement Agreement, and that Johnson provided no testimony that demonstrates that he and his wife sold the Property for an amount that had been reduced by the value of the Reimbursement Agreement (R. 212). The district court further found that Johnson was never a title holder to the Property and that the Reimbursement Agreement was entered into after the date when Johnson and his wife sold the Property (R. 212).

In making these findings, the district court erroneously ignored the record evidence, erroneously found that there were no material facts in dispute, and erroneously granted Payson City's motion for summary judgment.

A. Johnson paid for the infrastructure and its installment when the Property was sold.

First of all, the district court's finding that Johnson did not bear any out-of-pocket expenses for the infrastructure or its installation, and that this was an undisputed fact, is erroneous. Both Johnson and Noel Hiatt (Ray Hiatt's son) testified that their initial agreement was that Johnson hired Hiatt Construction to purchase the infrastructure and install the infrastructure (R. 134-135, 145-46, 171-72, 179). While Johnson was not going to pay Hiatt Construction for this work up-front, Hiatt Construction would be paid once the lots were sold. *Id.* Instead of developing and selling each lot, Hiatt approached Johnson and informed him that Carrie Woods wanted to purchase the Property (R. 170). Once the Property was sold to Carrie Woods and Ray Hiatt, Hiatt's costs and expenses for the installation of the infrastructure were included in the sale (R. 178-79). Thus, taking the facts in a light most favorable to Johnson, the record shows that Johnson paid

for the infrastructure and the costs for installing the infrastructure when the Property was sold. Therefore, the district court erroneously found that Johnson “has not provided testimony ... or any other evidence” that he paid for the infrastructure and its installation. Accordingly, there are genuine issue of material fact as to whether or not Johnson paid for the infrastructure and its installation, and the Ruling should be reversed.

B. The district court improperly raised and ruled on an issue not before the court.

Payson City argued in its Motion for Summary Judgment and its supporting memorandum that it was entitled to summary judgment on the following grounds: (1) Johnson failed to “demonstrate that he actually constructed an paid for the infrastructure for which he seeks reimbursement; (2) the City did not collect any fees on the frontage on the infrastructure so Johnson was not entitled to reimbursement; and (3) Johnson’s application for reimbursement was untimely (R. 116, 161-63)⁴.

The district court, however, considered an issue not raised in Payson City’s motion for summary judgment, and raised for the first time at oral argument and in its Ruling the question of whether Johnson could establish the amount of actual costs and expenses he paid for the infrastructure and its installation, and as such, whether Johnson could satisfy the provisions of the Reimbursement Agreement and the Payson City ordinance that purportedly require the applicant to establish the exact amount he is entitled to reimbursement (R. 212-13; 228: 11). The district court ruled that Johnson could not establish his actual out-of-pocket expenses for the infrastructure and its installation, and

⁴ The district court did not address the second and third issues in its Ruling, and these issues are not before this Court.

therefore, Johnson could not satisfy the requirements of the Reimbursement Agreement and the Payson City ordinance (R. 212-13).

Because the issue of whether Johnson could establish the exact amount of his out-of-pocket costs was not raised in Payson City's motion, it was not properly before the district court. The district court raised this issue on its own, and Johnson was not aware it was even at issue for summary judgment. Thus, the district court's finding that Johnson "is incapable of establishing the actual costs incurred by him ... to install the infrastructure" in order to satisfy certain requirements in the Reimbursement Agreement and the Payson City ordinance was in error since it was not at issue (R. 212) (emphasis added). For this reason alone, the Ruling should be reversed.

In any event, the Reimbursement Agreement included the estimate of what Johnson's actual costs would be, and in its Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment, Payson City attached an exhibit to the Reimbursement Agreement specifying where the costs would be incurred (R. 139, 141). Moreover, it cannot be argued that the infrastructure and the cost of installing the infrastructure was zero, so the district court erroneously ruled that Johnson was entitled to nothing. In addition, Hiatt subsequently received the full \$59,214 benefit, which is evidence of the costs Johnson paid to Hiatt to install the infrastructure (R. 124-25, 164). Accordingly, the district court erroneously found that Johnson could not establish that he incurred any costs in purchasing and installing the infrastructure.

C. Johnson had at least an equitable interest in the Property.

The district court found that Johnson was never a title holder to the property in its

Ruling holding that Johnson is unable to satisfy the requirements of the Reimbursement Agreement (R. 212). Taking Johnson's declaration and his deposition testimony in a light most favorable to him, the facts show that he was married to his wife when the Property was purchased and both of them purchased the Property from their joint account (R.146, 180). It just happened that his wife's name was put on the title (R.180). Thus, Johnson had at least an equitable interest in the property, and every right to develop the property.

In addition, the district court found that the Reimbursement Agreement was entered into after the Property was sold to Carrie Woods and Ray Hiatt (R. 212). While the Reimbursement Agreement was signed after the Property was sold, Johnson submitted uncontested proof that Payson City council agreed as early as June 19, 1996, to the conditions of the Reimbursement Agreement, and that it took Johnson a long period of time just to have the document executed (R. 175-76, 179). Accordingly, the district court's finding that the Reimbursement Agreement was entered into only after the property was sold is erroneous.

CONCLUSION AND PRECISE RELIEF SOUGHT

For the foregoing reasons, John Johnson asks this Court to reverse the district court's grant of Payson City's Motion for Summary Judgment, and to remand this matter to the district court for further proceedings.