2011

# John Johnson v. Payson City Corporation : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

### STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction is present in this Court pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2)(j).

### STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

Appellee Payson City Corporation (herein “City”) agrees with the Statement of Issues and Standard of Review in the Brief of Appellant.

### PROVISIONS OF STATUTES AND RULES

The City agrees that Rule 56 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and Payson City Ordinance 07-05-95 as stated by Appellant are central to the importance of this appeal.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a breach of contract action brought by Plaintiff and Appellant John Johnson (herein “Johnson”) against the City, and arising out of a Reimbursement Agreement between the parties dated August 13, 1997. (The purpose of the Reimbursement Agreement was to reimburse for offsite infrastructure that was to be installed and would serve the development property as well as other city residents. The land that was the subject of the Reimbursement Agreement is referred to herein as the “Property”.) After the close of discovery, the City moved for summary

judgment. [R. 117-167.]<sup>1</sup> The motion was briefed and argued and on February 4, 2011, the lower court entered a Ruling granting the motion. [R. 211- 216.] A final Order dismissing the case was entered below on February, 22, 2011. [R. 217-220.] This appeal followed.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Although it is incomplete, the City agrees with the Statement of Facts of Johnson, with one clarification: Johnson never owned any part or portion of the Property. His ex-wife Lana Johnson owned a 50% interest in the Property from June 15, 1995, until she sold it to Carrie Woods on August 4, 1997. [R. 156, 143.] Johnson claimed a beneficial interest in the Property by virtue of his marriage to Lana Johnson, apparently unaware that the ancient doctrines of dower and curtesy were abolished in 1975 by the Utah Legislature when the Uniform Probate Code was adopted in Utah. See Utah Code Ann. § 75-2-112 (1975, as amended 1998.)

Subsequent to the Property being purchased on August 4, 1997 by Ray Hiatt and Carrie Woods, 100% of the infrastructure was constructed and placed by Ray and Noell Hiatt. [R. 134-135.]<sup>2</sup> Whatever interest Johnson had in the Property

---

<sup>1</sup> The Record in this case is paginated backwards, so on any given document, a lower page number actually means the citation is further toward the end of the document. This unfortunate fact makes the Record citations very confusing.

<sup>2</sup> An unnumbered page exists in the Record between pages 134 and 135.

ceased to exist when the Property was sold to Woods and Hiatt on August 4, 1997. [R. 135; 198-199.] Thereafter, the Hiatts built the infrastructure, sold the lots and then donated any reimbursement due for the infrastructure back to the City. [R. 194.] In doing so, they relied on City Ordinance 07-5-95 rather than the Reimbursement Agreement that Johnson had obtained. [R.121-128.] The work was all bonded by the Hiatts and they posted a Letter of Credit with the City to secure completion of the infrastructure. [R. 123.]

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Both the Reimbursement Agreement and the City Ordinance required as a condition of payment that the applicant prove to the City Engineer that the infrastructure had been built and paid for by the applicant and then the costs of construction had to be justified. Johnson simply could not do this because he neither built nor paid for the infrastructure. His argument was that he was paying the Hiatts by reducing the price of the land, but then he never owned the land, so that was impossible. On those facts, there is simply no dispute. Johnson tries to controvert his own deposition testimony with a conclusory Affidavit [R. 180.] but his deposition testimony was clear. The Hiatts denied any deal with Johnson after they acquired the Property and he was unable to present sufficient proof to the Court after the City had made a *prima facie* case that Johnson was not entitled to



reimbursement. As a result, Johnson's claim must fail and the decision of the lower court should be affirmed.

### ARGUMENT

**IT IS UNDISPUTED THAT JOHNSON FAILED TO CREATE  
A MATERIAL DISPUTE OF FACT RESPECTING A KEY  
ELEMENT OF HIS CLAIM AND THUS SUMMARY  
JUDGMENT WAS PROPER.**

When a summary judgment motion has been filed and the movant has established a *prima facie* defense against a claim, the other party who bears the burden of proof at trial must come forth and present contrary evidence sufficient to create a material issue of fact, or lose the motion. Orvis v. Johnson, 2008 UT 2 ¶ 7, 177 P.3d 600, 602. And, the non-moving party cannot do this with a conclusory affidavit that conflicts with his own deposition. Webster v. Sill, 675 P.2d 1170, 1173 (Utah 1983); Gaw v. State, 798 P.2d 1130 (UT App. 1990); *See also* Murdock v. Springville Municipal Corporation, 1999 UT 39, 982 P.2d 65.

Here, the City filed its motion and set out in some detail with deposition testimony, documents and affidavits, that the infrastructure that Johnson sought reimbursement for had in fact been constructed and paid for by Noell & Ray Hiatt. These gentlemen had proven this fact to the City Engineer, provided back-up invoices to establish value and then donated the infrastructure to the City. [R. 121-

128.] This was specifically noted by Judge Mortensen in his Ruling. [R. 214.] The solitary evidence posited by Johnson to support this aspect of his claim came from an Affidavit he filed that, without foundation, stated that, “I hired Ray Hiatt to provide his labor and materials and install the infrastructure on the property. Ray Hiatt agreed that he would be paid for his labor and materials as the individual lots sold.” [R. 179 ¶¶ 9, 10.] In his Appellate Brief, Johnson cites to deposition excerpts from the Noell Hiatt deposition, claiming that Hiatt’s deposition established that an agreement existed between Noell Hiatt, his father Ray Hiatt and Johnson, to the effect that the Hiatts would install the infrastructure to the Property and Johnson would pay them. What is not explained, however, is that Johnson never performed on that oral agreement, the deal changed and thereafter Ray Hiatt and Carrie Woods bought the Property and Johnson was out of the picture. [R. 131.] At the end of the day, Johnson paid nothing for the infrastructure that was installed. *Id.* The Affidavit statements were, of course, inconsistent with statements by Hiatt and were unsupported by any other evidence or statement. [R. 131.] To the contrary, all of the documentary evidence indicated that the infrastructure had been paid for by the Hiatts themselves, and that Johnson was in no position to pay by reducing property sales prices because his spouse had sold the Property and he had never owned it. [ R. 121-128, 131, 149-157.] Johnson’s assertion that he discounted the Property when

it was sold and that is how he paid the Hiatts for the infrastructure is further discredited by the fact that Lana Johnson sold her interest in the Property to Carrie Woods – not Ray Hiatt. [R. 143.] In his deposition, Johnson admitted that by August 4, 1997, the Property had been sold, that he no longer had any property interest in it and that he had no agreement with the new owners. [R. 197-198.] Specifically, he stated that:

Q.: . . . And so on August 4<sup>th</sup> of 1997, none of the five owners that you represented as the developer were property owners in Payson Meadow Subdivision; is that correct?

A.: As of what point?

Q.: As of August 4<sup>th</sup> when your wife was the last one to transfer her interest in the Payson Meadows to Ms. Woods?

A.: That is correct.

\*\*\*

Q.: . . . Did you have any agreement with Mr. Ray Hiatt – I can include Mr. Noel Hiatt too. They were in the construction business – or Ms. Carrie Woods, to continue to represent the owners of the property in developing the Payson Meadows Subdivision?

A.: No, sir.

Id.

This testimony was inconsistent with the Affidavit he filed.

From all of this, the trial court concluded that Johnson had failed to present any evidence that he had performed and paid for infrastructure, and further concluded that it was impossible for Johnson to have the agreement he contended in his Affidavit because he had no interest in the Property and the interest of his ex-wife had been sold. [R. 212-213.] In other words, if the alleged agreement is to discount the price of property to pay for infrastructure, one must first own the property in order to be able to discount it. There was no evidence presented that Johnson ever owned the Property or any portion thereof, or that the sales price to Ray Hiatt and/or Carrie Woods had been discounted.

Thus, in the Court below, Johnson failed to present sufficient evidence to create a material fact dispute on key elements of his claim – for which he bore the evidentiary burden at trial. As a result, under the rule of Orvis, the City is entitled to summary judgment as the lower court ruled.